## THE CROSSINGS II TOWNHOMES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

#### "WELCOME"

The Crossings II Townhomes Association would like to take this opportunity to congratulate you on the purchase of your new townhome and to welcome you as a member. We are certain you will enjoy your new home and the convenience of modern townhome living.

The Association by-laws require that each homeowner prepay to the Association a one-time non-refundable fee of \$200.00 to cover one year of exterior insurance. Your monthly dues of \$100.00 will be pro-rated from the date of closing on your home and will follow the first of each month thereafter. Be sure that you contact your own insurance agent for any additional insurance coverage for the interior and your personal belongings.

The monthly fee of \$100.00 is payable to The Crossings II Association. Checks for insurance and dues should be mailed or delivered to the address below:

The Crossings II Association % Tom Walker 712 S 13<sup>th</sup> Street Grimes, Iowa 50111

The Association will contract annually for insurance, lawn care, snow removal, trash removal and maintenance. I have enclosed a copy of the by-laws, covenants and other information you may find helpful.

We hope you enjoy your new townhome. If you have any questions or concerns, regarding Association matters, please contact Tom at 515-986-0595.

# MAIL BOX KEY Contact the Grimes Postal Service

TRASH REMOVAL
Contact Waste Connection
265-7374

#### **DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:

That The Crossings Townhomes II, L.C., an Iowa limited liability company ("Declarant"), as developer of The Crossings Townhomes II in the City of Grimes, Polk County, Iowa, desires to establish and place residential covenants, conditions and restrictions and does hereby reserve certain easements, all as hereinafter specifically set forth, on the following described real property:

Lots 1 through 22 of THE CROSSINGS TOWNHOMES PLAT 2, an Official Plat, now included in and forming a part of the City of Grimes, Polk County, Iowa (hereinafter the "Properties").

NOW, THEREFORE, Declarant hereby declares that the Properties shall be held, sold and conveyed subject to the following easements, restrictions, covenants, and conditions, which are for the purpose of protecting the value and desirability of, and which shall run with the real property and be binding on all parties having any rights, title or interest in the Properties or any part thereof, their heirs, successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of each Owner thereof.

## ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

<u>Section 1.</u> "Association" shall mean and refer to The Crossings Townhomes II Association, its successors and assigns, a non-profit corporation organized pursuant to Chapter 504A of the Code of Iowa, 1999, as amended.

Section 2. "Association Responsibility Elements" shall mean the following:

- (a) The exterior surface of the Building upon a Lot, excluding windows, doors, stoops, patios and decks.
- (b) The structural portion of the Building upon a lot.
- (c) The roof, gutters, downspouts, and foundations of the Building upon a Lot.
- (d) Any common wall between residential structures upon Lots, except the interior surfaces thereof.
- (e) The yard surrounding the residential structures upon a Lot, excluding any gardens, plants or flowers installed by the Owner.

- (f) Driveways and sidewalks.
- (g) Conduits, ducts, plumbing, wiring, pipes and other facilities within the attic or basement of a residential structure which are carrying any services to more than one Lot or more than one Living Unit.

<u>Section 3.</u> "Board of Directors" shall mean and refer to the Board of Directors of the Association.

<u>Section 4.</u> "Building" shall mean and refer to any structure containing on or more single-family dwelling units that may be constructed on a Lot or on several Lots.

<u>Section 5.</u> "Common Elements" shall mean all common water lines, sewers, gas lines, electric lines and other utility service facilities located within the properties that serve more than one Living Unit.

**Section 6.** "Declarant" shall mean and refer to The Crossings Townhome II, L.C. its successors and assigns.

<u>Section 7.</u> "Declaration" shall mean and refer to this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions to which the Properties are subject.

**Section 8.** "Federal Mortgage Agencies" shall mean and refer to those federal agencies that have or may come to have an interest in the Properties, or any portion thereof, such as the Federal Housing Administration, the Veterans Administration, the Federal National Mortgage Association and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, or successors to their interests.

<u>Section 9.</u> "Living Unit" Shall mean and refer to any portion of a building situated upon a Lot and designed and intended for use and occupancy as a resident by a single family.

<u>Section 10.</u> "Lot "shall mean and refer to any of the lots in Lots 1-22 in the Crossings Townhomes II, an Official Plat, now included in and forming a part of the City of Grimes, Polk County, Iowa as shown on the Official Plat thereof and any Lots created by the division of such Lots.

<u>Section 11.</u> "Member" shall mean and refer to those persons entitled to membership as provided in the Declaration.

<u>Section 12.</u> "Owner" shall mean and refer to the record Owner, whether one or more persons or entities, of fee simple title to any Lot which is a part of the Properties, including contract sellers and vendees (deemed Co-owners), but excluding those having such interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation, and excluding those having a lien upon the property by provision or operation of law.

Section 13. "Properties" shall have the meaning set forth on Page 1 hereof.

## ARTICLE II MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING RIGHTS IN THE ASSOCIATION

Section 1. Membership and Voting. Every Owner of a Lot shall be a Member of the Association. Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any Lot. That is subject to assessment hereunder. Ownership of a Lot shall be the sole qualification for membership. Subject to provisions of Section 2 of this Article, the Owners of a Lot shall be entitled to one vote for each Lot owned. When more than one person holding an interest in any Lot, all such persons shall be Members. The vote for such Lot shall be exercised as they, among themselves, determine, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast in respect to any Lot.

<u>Section 2. Declarant as Sole Voting Member.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of this Declaration, Declarant shall be the sole voting Member of the Association for until Declarant no longer owns any portion of any Lot, or until Declarant waives, in writing, its right to be sole voting member. Declarant shall have the right to elect all Directors and to cast all votes as it deems appropriate. Each Owner by acceptance of a deed to a Lot shall be deemed to have released Declarant from all claims with respect to actions taken or not taken while Declarant controls the Association.

<u>Section 3. Board of Directors.</u> The voting Members shall elect a Board of Directors of the Association as prescribed by the Bylaws of the Association. The Board of Directors shall manage the affairs of the Association.

<u>Section 4. Suspension of Voting Rights.</u> The Association shall suspend the voting rights of a Member for any period during which any assessment hereunder against his/her/its Lot remains unpaid and for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days for any infraction of the published rules and regulations of the Association.

Section 5. Notice of Meetings of Members. Unless the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws otherwise provide, written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in case of a special meeting, the purpose of purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered no less than five (5) nor more than fifty (50) days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the President or Secretary, or the officer or persons calling the meetings, to each member entitled to vote at such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States Mail addressed to the Member at his/her/its address as it appears on the records of the Association, with postage thereon prepaid.

**Section 6. Duration.** No dissolution of the Association shall occur without the prior approval and consent of the City of Grimes, lowa.

### ARTICLE III COVENANT FOR MAINTENANCE ASSESSMENTS

#### Section 1. Creation of the Lien and Personal Obligation of Assessments.

Declarant, for each Lot owned within the Properties, hereby covenants, and each Owner of any Lot by acceptance of a deed to covenant and agree to pay to the Association: (1) monthly assessments or charges, (2) special assessments for capital improvements and operating deficits and (3) special assessments as provided in the Article III, Articles V and Article VI; such assessments to be established and collected as hereinafter provided. The monthly and special assessments, together with interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees, shall be a charge on the land and shall be a continuing lien upon the property against which each such assessment is made. Each such assessment, together with interest, costs, and reasonable attorney's fees, shall also be the joint and several personal obligation of each person who was the Owner of such property at the time when the assessment became due.

<u>Section 2. Purpose of Assessments.</u> The assessments levied by the Association shall be used exclusively to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the residents in the Properties and for the insurance, improvement, maintenance, repair, replacement, removal and demolition of the Association responsibility Elements, the Common Elements and the Living Units situated on the Properties and for other purposed specifically provided herein.

Section 3. Maximum Monthly Assessment. Until January 1 of the year immediately following the conveyance of the first Lot to an Owner, the maximum monthly assessment shall be Three Hundred Dollars and 00/100 per lot plus a prorated portion of real estate taxes and special assessments payable by the Association. Thereafter, the maximum monthly assessment may be increased effective January 1 of each year, but such increase shall not be more than 10% greater than the maximum assessment for the previous year without a vote of a majority of Members who are voting in person or by proxy at a meeting duly called for this purpose. The Board of Directors shall fix the monthly assessment at an amount not in excess of the maximum.

A portion of such monthly assessment shall be set aside or otherwise allocated in a reserve fund for the purpose of providing repair, replacement, removal and demolition of the Common Elements and any capital improvement that the Association is required to maintain. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Declarant may use any reserve funds, if established, to defray operating costs as deems appropriate.

A Lot shall not be subject to assessment until the first of the month following the date of occupancy as a residence or date of closing, whichever comes first.

Declarant shall not be liable for annual or special assessments upon Lots owned by it. Declarant is not responsible for the establishment of a budget as long as the Declarant is the sole voting member of the Association.

The Association and Declarant are not required to submit statements for assessments upon to any Owner. All monthly payments shall be made on the first of each month, or any Owner may pay each assessment in one payment but not less frequently than monthly.

Section 4. Special Assessments for Capital Improvements and Operating

<u>Deficits.</u> In addition to the monthly assessments authorized above, the Association may levy a special assessment for the purpose of defraying, in whole or in part, the cost of any construction, reconstruction, repair, replacement, removal or demolition of a capital improvement that the Association is required to maintain or for operating deficits that the Association may from time to time incur, provided that any such assessment shall have the assent of a majority of the Members who are voting in person or by proxy at a meeting duly called for this purpose.

#### Section 5. Notice and Quorum for Any Action Authorized Under Sections 3 and

4. Written notice of any meeting called for the purpose of taking any action authorized under Section 3 or 4 shall be sent to all Members not less than five (5) days or more than fifty (50) days in advance of the meeting. At the first such meeting called, the presence of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Members or proxies entitled to cast votes shall constitute a quorum. If the required quorum is not present, another meeting may be called subject to the same notice requirement, and the required quorum at the subsequent meeting shall be fifty percent (50%) of the required quorum at the preceding meeting. No such subsequent meeting shall be held more than sixty (60) days following the preceding meeting.

<u>Section 6. Uniform Rate of Assessment.</u> Both monthly and special assessments must be fixed at a uniform rate for all Lots and may be collected on a monthly basis.

Section 7. Date of Commencement of Monthly Assessments: Due Dates. The monthly assessments provided for herein shall commence as to each respective Lot on the first day of the first month following the date of conveyance to an Owner of a Lot with a completed Living Unit constructed thereon and for which a certificate of occupancy has been issued. LOTS OWNED BY THE DECLARANT THAT DO NOT HAVE COMPLETED UNITS THAT ARE NOT SOLD, LEASED OR OCCUPIED SHALL BE EXEMPT FROM THE ASSESSMENTS DESCRIBED IN THIS ARTICLE III AND THE ASSESSMENTS DESCRIBED IN ARTICLE VI. The maintenance responsibilities of the Association as to each Lot shall commence concurrently with the commencement of monthly assessments. The insurance assessment provided for in Article VI shall commence as to each Lot on the day the Owner

takes possession of such Lot. The Board of Directors shall fix any increase in the amount of the monthly assessment at least thirty (30) days in advance of the effective date of such increase. Written notice of special assessments and such other assessment notices as the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate shall be sent to every Owner subject thereto. The due dates for all assessments shall be established by the Board of Directors. The Association shall, upon demand, and for a reasonable charge, furnish a certificate in a recordable form signed by an officer of the Association setting forth whether the assessments on a specified Lot have been paid. A properly executed certificate from the Association regarding the status of assessments on a Lot shall be binding upon the Association as of the date of its issuance.

#### Section 8. Effect of Nonpayment of Assessments: Remedies of the Association.

Any assessment not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date shall bear interest from the due date at the rate of 15% per annum or at the highest rate allowed by lowa law, whichever is lower. The Association may bring in action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same, or foreclose the lien against the property in the manner provided for foreclosure of a mortgage, or both, and there shall be added to the Amount of said assessment all cost and expenses incurred by the Association in collecting said assessments, including reasonable attorney's fees, whether or not legal action is required in connection therewith. No owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the assessments provided for herein by non-use of Common Elements or abandonment of the Owner's Lot.

Section 9. Subordination of Assessments Liens. The lien of the assessments provided for herein shall be subordinate to the lien of any first mortgage. The assessment shall be paid prior to or at the closing of sale or transfer of any Lot. However, the sale or transfer of any Lot pursuant to mortgage foreclosure or any proceeding in sale or transfer shall relieve such Lot from liability for any assessments thereafter becoming due or from the lien thereof. Provided, however, the sale or transfer of any Lot pursuant to the foreclosure of any first mortgage on such Lot (without the necessity of joining the Association in any such foreclosure action) or any proceedings or deed in lieu thereof shall extinguish the lien of all assessments becoming due prior to the date of such sale or transfer. The failure of an Owner to pay assessments as provided in this Article III shall not constitute a default under a mortgage insured by the Federal Mortgage Agencies.

### ARTICLE IV DECLARANT'S RIGHTS

Declarant reserves the right to use any of the Lots as models and to sell, assign, or conduct other businesses in connection with the construction and development of the project form any of such Lots prior to their being sold. This reservation of right or privilege in Declarant includes, but is not limited to, the right to maintain models, erect signs, maintain an office, staff the office with employees, and to show Lots then unsold. Declarant retains the right to be considered an Owner of any Lot that remains unsold. Declaranat also reserves the right to make changes in the number, location, or manner of construction of buildings and other improvements on the Properties including, without limitation, the substitution of screened-in porches for decks on certain Lots designated by Declarant; provided, that in all cases, such changes shall be accomplished in a manner consistent with applicable laws and ordinances.

## ARTICLE V MAINTENANCE

Section 1. Maintenance by Owners. The Owner of each Lot shall furnish and be responsible for, at the Owner's own expense, all maintenance and repairs of the Owner's Lot and all structures, improvements, and equipment located thereon including decorating and replacements within the Owner's Living Unit, the heating and air conditioning systems and any partitions and interior walls appurtenant to the Living Unit, but excluding the Association Responsibility Elements. The Owner shall be responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of all windows in the Owner's Living Unit, the doors leading into the Living Unit, and any and all other maintenance, repair, and replacements of the improvements, including decks, patios and stoops, including snow removal, shrubs, flowers, trees plantings, gardens, and other landscaping, on the Owner's Lot unless otherwise provided herein. The Owner shall also be responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of all electrical wiring from the main electrical wiring from the main electrical box to the Owner's Living Unit, notwithstanding the fact that such wiring crosses a Common Element or is located off-premised form the Owner's Lot. The Owner shall be responsible for maintaining exterior light bulbs of the

Living Unit, and the Owner shall keep such light bulbs illuminated from dusk to dawn daily.

To the extent that equipment, facilities (including fences) within any Lot shall be connected to similar equipment, facilities, affecting or serving other Lots, thereof the use thereof by the Owner of such Lot shall be subject to the rules and regulations of the Association. The authorized representatives of the Association of Board of Directors or the manager or managing agent for the Association shall be entitled to reasonable access to any Lot as may be required in connection with maintenance, repairs or replacement of or to any equipment, facilities or fixtures affecting or serving other Lots.

Any repair or replacement of an exterior structure, improvement or equipment shall match the original item that it repairs or replaces. All exterior structures, improvements and equipment (including, without limitation, decks and fences) shall be constructed in accordance with local ordinances and building codes.

Section 2. Maintenance of Driveways. The Association shall be responsible for the maintenance, including snow removal, repairs and repaving of all driveways and for the maintenance and repair of any pedestrian walkways or sidewalks, excluding the stoops located at entrances of any Living Unit, constructed or to be constructed within the Properties by Declarant for the benefit of all Owners of Lots. Driveways shall be maintained at all times in such manner as to provide ingress and egress, both pedestrian and vehicular, from each Lot to and from a public street or highway. The specification determined by the Board of Directors, or by an architectural committee composed of three (3) or more representatives appointed by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Maintenance Obligations of Association. In addition to maintenance upon the driveways and sidewalks, the Association shall provide all maintenance, repair, replacement, removal and demolition of the Association Responsibility Elements and Common Elements, including but not limited to maintenance upon each Lot that is subject to assessment hereunder as follows: paint, repair, replace and care for roofs, gutters, downspouts, exterior building surfaces and other exterior improvements, lawns shrubs (but excluding any gardens, plants or flowers installed by any Owner, and excluding patios and decks and any enclosed patio areas and decks and excluding any lawns, shrubs, etc. within any fenced

area), trees, trash removal and snow removal (but excluding the stoops located at the entrances of any Living Unit). In the case of lawns, shrubs, trees, and other elements of landscaping, the Association shall perform all necessary repairs, replacements and maintenance thereof in a manner consistent with the level of maturity and development of the landscaping at the time that the repair, replacement or maintenance activity occurs. All original landscaping will be replaced. The Board of Directors will have the final authority as to what landscaping is to be maintained, repaired or replaced.

The Association shall provide all maintenance repair, replacement, removal and demolition of the Emergency Access Easement Area including, but not limited to the roadway.

In the event that the need for maintenance or repair is caused through the willful or negligence act of any Owner, or the Owner's family, guests, invitees, agents or contractors, the cost of such maintenance or repairs shall be assessed to such Owner.

#### ARTICLE VI INSURANCE

Section L. Casualty Insurance. The Association shall obtain a master casualty insurance policy or policies affording fire and extended coverage insurance for the Association Responsibility Elements in an amount equal to the full replacement value thereof. The Association may obtain "all risk' coverage for the Association Responsibility Elements. The Association shall be responsible for reviewing at least annually the amount and type of such insurance and shall purchase such additional insurance as is necessary to provide the insurance required above. The Association may cause such full replacement value to be determined by a qualified appraiser and the cost of such appraisal shall be included in the monthly maintenance assessment for each Lot on a pro rata basis. Such insurance coverage shall be for the benefit of the Association, each Owner, and if applicable, the first Mortgagee of each Lot.

The master casualty insurance policy, and "at risk" coverage if obtained, shall (to the extent the same or obtainable) contain provision that the insurer (a) waives its right to subrogation as to any claim against the Association, its Board of

Directors, its agents and employees, the Owners and their respective agents and guests, and (b) waives any defense based on invalidity based upon the acts of the insured; and provided further that the insurer shall not be entitled to contribution against casualty insurance which may be purchased by any Owner as hereinafter permitted. The Association insurance policy is responsible for the exterior of the unit into the bare drywall. The Homeowners policy covers from the bare drywall and all exterior fixtures and personal belongings.

Section 2. Liability Insurance. The Association shall also purchase a master comprehensive public liability insurance policy in such amount or amounts as the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate from time to time. Such comprehensive public liability insurance policy shall cover the Association, its Board of Directors, its agents and employees, the Owners and all other persons entitled to occupy any Lot. The Association shall also obtain any other insurance required by law to be maintained, including but not limited to, worker's compensation insurance, and such other insurance as the Board of Directors shall form time to time deem necessary, advisable or appropriate. Such insurance coverage shall also provide for and cover cross liability claims of one insured party against another insured party. Such insurance shall inure to the benefit of each Owner, the Association, its Board of Directors and any managing agent acting on behalf to the Association. Each Owner shall be deemed to have delegated to the Board of Directors the Owner's right to adjust with the insurance companies all losses under policies purchased by the Association. The Association shall be responsible for securing and maintaining throughout the term of the Grant of Easement described above, any insurance required pursuant to the Grant of Easement.

Section 3. Monthly Assessment for Insurance. The premiums for all such insurance hereinabove described shall be paid by the Association and the pro rata cost thereof shall become a part of the monthly assessment. When any such policy of insurance hereinabove, described has been obtained by or on behalf of the Association, written notice of the obtainment thereof and of any subsequent changes therein or termination thereof shall be promptly furnished to each Owner, mortgagee, the City of whose interest may be affected thereby, which notice shall be furnished by the officer of the Association who is required to send notices of meetings of the Association.

Section 5. Additional Insurance. Each Owner shall obtain additional insurance at the Owner's personal property, the contents of the Owner's Living Unit, and all components of the Owner's Living Unit not included in the Association Responsibility Elements (including, but not limited to, all floor, ceiling, and wall coverings and fixtures, betterments and improvements) in the amount equal to the full replacement value therefore. Such insurance shall contain the same provisions for waiver of subrogation as referred to in the foregoing provisions for the master casualty insurance policy to be obtained by the Association. Each Owner shall obtain comprehensive public casualty insurance, at the Owner's expense, affording coverage upon the Owner's Lot with a combined single limit of not less than \$300,000 per occurrence. Such insurance shall provide that it shall be without contribution as against the casualty insurance purchased by the Association. If a casualty loss is sustained and there is a reduction in the amount of the proceeds which would otherwise be payable on the insurance purchased by the Association pursuant to this paragraph due to pro-ration of insurance purchased by the Owner under this paragraph, the Owner agrees to assign the proceeds of this latter insurance, to the extent of the amount of such reduction, to the Association to be distributed as herein provided.

<u>Section 6. Casualty and Restoration.</u> Damage to or destruction of any Building due to fire or any other casualty or disaster shall be repaired and reconstructed by the Association and the proceeds of insurance, if any, shall be applied for that purpose. If for any reason the Association chooses not to repair or reconstruct any Building damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, the Owner(s) of the affected Lots shall have the right, but not the obligation, to perform such repair or reconstruction and to collect the cost thereof from the Association.

<u>Section 7. Insufficiency of Insurance Proceeds.</u> If the insurance proceeds received by the Association as a result of any such fire or any other casualty or disaster are not adequate to cover the cost of repair and reconstruction, or in the event there are no insurance proceeds, the cost for restoring the damage and repairing and reconstructing the Common Area or any Building or Buildings so damaged or destroyed (or the costs thereof in excess of insurance proceeds received, if any) shall be paid by the Association, which shall then have the right to levy a special assessment against all Lots for the amount of such deficiency.

For the purposes of Section 6 above, repair, reconstruction and restoration shall mean construction or rebuilding of any Building or Buildings to as near as possible the same condition as it existed immediately prior to the damage or destruction and with the same or similar type of architecture. All living expenses will not be covered.

Section 8. Surplus of Insurance Proceeds. In the event that there is any surplus of insurance proceeds after the reconstruction of repair of the damage has been fully completed and all costs paid, such sums may be retained by the Association as a reserve or may be used in the maintenance and operation of the Properties, or, in the discretion of the Board of Directors, may be distributed to the Owners of the Building affected and their mortgagees who are the beneficial owners of the fund. The action of the Board of Directors in proceeding to repair or reconstruct damages shall not constitute a waiver of any rights against Owner for committing willful or malicious damage.

## ARTICLE VII EASEMENTS

Section 1. Drainage, Utility, and Sewer Easements. As noted on the recorded Plat of the Properties, Declarant has reserved certain areas of the Lots for public utility and sewer easements. In doing so, it is the intention of Declarant to provide the needed flexibility, for the benefit of all Lots and Owners, to properly install and allow to be maintained all electrical, telephone, water, gas, sewer, and other utility service (including all lines, pipes, wires, cables, ducts, etc.) to the Living Units constructed on the Lots. No other improvements or permanent structures (excluding walkways, driveways and fences) shall be placed within such easements and any fences installed shall be subject to the rights (including the right to remove where reasonably necessary without duty of replacement or reimbursement) of any public or private utility to construct, maintain, repair, or remove any necessary facilities and the right of Declarant and the Association to provide for and maintain appropriate drainage. Regardless of whether shown on the recorded plat, each Lot shall accept surface water drainage from adjacent properties whether or not located within the Properties and each Lot shall have the right to drain its surface water to the adjacent Lots located within the Properties.

Section 2. Additional Easement Rights. Declarant reserves unto itself, for the benefit of all Lots and Owners, an easement right, title, and authority to relocate, alter or otherwise change the location of any drainage, utility or sewer easement and to grant such further easements, licenses, and rights or way, temporary or permanent, exclusive or non-exclusive, surface or otherwise, as Declarant may deem necessary or appropriate, for ingress, egress, utility and similar purposes on or within any Lot or Lots or any portion of the Properties. Declarant further reserves the right to more specifically describe or to change the description of any such drainage, utility and sewer easement, or other easement, license or right-ofway by written instrument, or amendment to the Plat recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Polk County, Iowa. Each Owner shall take title subject to the right of easements reserved herein; provided, however, the rights reserved in this Section 2 shall not be exercised in a manner which unreasonably and adversely affects, any Building or portion thereof or which unreasonably restricts the rights of ingress or egress to any Lot. The rights and easements reserved by Declarant in this Section 2 shall run with the land and Declarant's right to further alter or grant easements shall automatically transfer to the Association when Declarant shall have conveyed the last Lot within the Properties.

<u>Section 3. Easement for Access and Maintenance.</u> The Association, its agents, and contractors and each Owner shall have an easement and license to, in and over each Lot for the purpose of performing its maintenance obligations and for access to the rear of the Lot owned by such Owner.

<u>Section 4. Easement for Water Usage.</u> The Association, its agents, and contractors shall have an easement and license to use hoses, bibs and water from all Lots for the purpose of performing its maintenance obligations provided the Association shall reimburse the Owner for any water costs relating thereto in excess of \$50.00 per month.

<u>Section 5. Easement for Emergency Purposes.</u> An easement is hereby dedicated and granted for use in the case of an emergency, by emergency vehicles such as fire trucks, police cars, ambulances, etc., and emergency personnel, public and private, over and upon all Lots and any pedestrian walkways or sidewalks.

<u>Section 6. Easement for Signs.</u> Declarant reserves unto itself for so long as it owns any Lot, and thereafter reserves and grants to the Owners by and through

the Association, the right and easement to erect and maintain an entryway sign or signs.

Section 7. Driveways and Entrances. An easement is hereby reserved and granted for the use of all Lots served by one driveway over such driveway. To the extent that a driveway serving a Living Unit is located partially or wholly on another Lot or Lots, the Owner of the Living Unit served by such driveway shall the benefit of any easement over that portion of the other Lot or Lots covered by the driveway. This driveway easement shall be for ingress and egress purposes and no Owner shall park or allow to be parked any vehicular or other obstruction within the driveway area so as to prevent access to the Living Units that such driveway serves. Further, there is hereby reserved and granted an easement for the benefit of each Lot served by a sidewalk and pedestrian walkway located partially or wholly an another Lot or Lots. In the event Living Units are served by a shared front entry stoop and to the extent of such shared stoops a reciprocal easement is granted Owner shall obstruct or allow obstructions on any sidewalk or pedestrian walk or shared entry stoop which would impair use and access to the Living Unit which such sidewalk or entry stoop serves.

<u>Section 8. General Easements.</u> Each Lot shall be subject to the following easements in favor of the Association and the other Owners:

- (a) Every portion of a structure upon a Lot which contributes to the support of any structure not on the same Lot is burdened with an easement of such support.
- (b) Each Lot is burdened with an easement through the Lot and through the attic and basement of any structure thereon for conduits, ducts, plumbing, wiring, pipes, and other facilities for the furnishing of utilities, heating and air conditioning systems and similar services to other Lots, including the location of utility meters and equipment on one Lot for service to other Lots.
- (c) Each Lot is burdened with an easement of ingress and egress for maintenance, repair and replacement of Association Responsibility Elements by the Association.
- (d) Each Lot is burdened with an encroachment easement for minor encroachments of common walls due to settling, shifting or inexact location during construction.

(e) Each Lot is burdened with easements for public utilities and sidewalks as may be shown upon any recorded subdivision plat.

### ARTICLE VIII PARKING RIGHTS

Subject to the provisions of Article VII, Section 6, above, the paved driveway in front of each Owner's garage shall be for the exclusive benefit of such Owner and the Owner's guests. No one shall use the public street located adjacent to any of the Lots for parking or storing of boats, snowmobiles, trailers, camping vehicles or other recreational vehicles, or for parking of trucks or other commercial vehicles, except temporarily or incidentally for the making of pickup and deliveries to neighboring Lots. No bicycles, toys or other similar personal property shall be allowed to obstruct any driveways. No vehicle shall be parked as to impeded access from or to any Lot or public street. No fence, barrier or other obstruction of any kind shall ever be placed or constructed so as to impede access from or to any Lot or public street. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Declarant may use the driveways, sidewalks, public streets and similar areas during the construction of the Living Units as it deems appropriate. Homeowners are to try to resolve any violators first. If no response and violations continue to happen the homeowner can bring this matter to the attention of The Board of Directors of the Association. At only the direction of The Board of Directors any violator may be towed at the owners expense.

## ARTICLE IX PARTY WALLS

<u>Section 1. General Rules of Law to Apply.</u> Each wall which is built as a part of the original construction of the building upon the Properties and placed on the dividing lines between the Lots shall constitute a party wall, and, to the extent not inconsistent with the provisions of this Article, the general rules of law regarding party walls and liability for property damage due to negligence or willful acts or omissions shall apply thereto.

<u>Section 2. Sharing of Repairing and Maintenance.</u> The costs of repair and maintenance of a party wall shall be shared by the Owners who make use of the wall in proportion to such use.

<u>Section 3. Destruction by Fire of Other Casualty.</u> If a party wall is destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty, any Owner who has used the wall may restore it, and if the other Owners thereafter make use of the wall, they shall contribute to the cost of restoration thereof in proportion to such use without prejudice, however, to the right of any such Owners to call for a larger contribution from the others under any rule of law regarding liability for negligent or willful acts or omissions.

<u>Section 4. Weatherproofing.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article, any Owner who by the Owner's negligent or willful act causes the party wall to be exposed to the elements shall bear the whole cost of furnishing the necessary protection against such elements.

<u>Section 5. Right of Contribution Runs With Land.</u> The right of any Owner to contribution from any other Owner under this Article shall be appurtenant to the land and shall pas to such Owner's successors in title.

## ARTICLE X ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL

No building, fence, wall or other structure, except as originally constructed by or on behalf of Declarant, shall be commenced, erected, altered or maintained upon the Properties, nor shall any exterior addition to or change or alterations thereof be made (including screen door, satellite dishes and similar fixtures) until the plans and specifications showing the nature, kind, shape, height, materials and location of the same shall have been submitted to and approved in writing as to harmony of external design and location in relation to surrounding structures and topography by the Board of Directors, or by an architectural committee composed of three (3) or more representatives appointed by the Board of Directors. Any change in the appearance or the color of any part of the exterior of a building (including the exterior items for which the Owner is responsible for maintenance pursuant to Article V, Section 1, hereof) shall be deemed change thereto and shall require the approval therefore as above provided.

### ARTICLE XI SIGNS AND HOME OCCUPATIONS

<u>Section 1. Signs.</u> No sign of any kind including rental signs (other than interior window signs) and further including signs of any nature, kind, or description that identify, advertise, or in any way describe the existence or conduct of a home occupation, shall be displayed on any Lot without the prior written approval of the Board of Directors, provided, however, that an Owner shall be entitled to display two (2) "for sale" signs of standard and customary size and materials in connection with attempts by the Owner to market a Lot. Nothing in this Article shall affect the rights of Declarant provided in Article IV.

<u>Section 2. Home Occupations.</u> No home occupation shall be conducted or maintained on any Lot other than one which is incident to a business, profession or occupation of the Owner or occupant of any such Lot and which is generally or regularly conducted in another location away from such Lot. No child-care service activity shall be regularly conducted on any Lot, except for incidental childcare activities for the sole benefit of the Owner of a Lot. Nothing contained herein shall be construed or interpreted to affect the activities of Declarant in the sale of Lots or single-family dwellings as a part of the development of the Properties.

## ARTICLE XII ENCROACHMENTS AND EASEMENTS FOR BUILDINGS

**SECTION 1. Encroachment.** If, by reason of the location, construction, settling or shifting of a Building, any part of a Building consisting of Living Unit appurtenant to a Lot (hereinafter in this Article XII referred to as the "Encroaching Unit") encroaches upon any minor portion of any other adjacent Lot, then in such event, an exclusive easement shall be deemed to exist and run to the Owner of the Encroaching Unit for the maintenance, use, and enjoyment of the Encroaching Unit and all appurtenances thereto, for the period during which the encroachment exists.

<u>Section 2. Easements.</u> Each owner shall have an easement in common with each other Owner to use all pipes, wires, ducts, cables, conduits, utility lines an other

common facilities located in or on any other Lot or Living Unit and serving such Owner's Lot.

### ARTICLE XIII ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS

<u>Section 1.</u> No Lot shall be used except for residential purposed, as defined in the Grimes Zoning Ordinance as applicable to the R-3 zoning district, except for rights of Declarant as provided in Article IV. No buildings, structures or sheds shall be erected on any Lot other than the Living Units or replacements thereof.

Section 2. No animals, livestock or poultry of any kind shall be raised, bred or kept on any Lot, except that no more than 2 pets such as 2 dogs, 2 cats, 1 dog and 1 cat, provided that they are not kept, bred or maintained for any commercial purposes. The Board of Directors has the right to restrict certain dangerous breeds such as Pit Bulls, Doberman pinchers, Rottweilers, Akitas etc. The Association may, by rules and regulations, prohibit or further limit the raising, breeding or keeping on any Lot of any Pet. Clean up of the exterior of each unit with pets is the responsibility of the homeowner. Any destruction of the property is the owner's responsibility. Pets must be on a restraint at all times of no longer than 8 feet in length.

<u>Section 3.</u> No noxious or offensive activities, not involving the maintenance of Lots, shall be carried on upon a Lot nor shall anything be done thereon that may become an annoyance or a nuisance to the neighborhood. Nor shall any Owner cause, or suffer or harbor the source of, any noise or activity that disturbs the peace, comfort and quiet enjoyment of other Owners or those claiming under or through other Owners.

Section 4. The Owner of each Lot shall keep the same free of weeds and debris.

<u>Section 5.</u> No trash receptacles and garbage cans shall be permitted to be placed outside of a Building or a structure on any Lot. This restriction shall not preclude the placement of waste containers outside of such area on a temporary basis, if so required by governmental regulations or by any private removal service, on trash pickup days only and not more than twenty-four (24) hours in advance of

pickup. The Owners, individually or collectively, shall contract with only one (1) private removal service.

<u>Section 6.</u> No temporary structure, trailer, basement, tent, shack, garage, barn, or other building shall be used on any Lot at any time as a residence, either temporary or permanently.

<u>Section 7.</u> All placements of Satellite dishes must be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval. Any damage cause by satellite dishes, disc, flagpoles etc. to the siding or outside of the unit is solely the responsibility of the homeowner.

<u>Section 8.</u> No basketball goal attached to the exterior of a Living Unit, soccer goal, baseball backstop or other similar sporting equipment shall be constructed upon any Lot.

<u>Section 9.</u> All unattached sporting equipment, toys, outdoor cooking equipment, and other equipment and supplies necessary or convenient to residential living shall be stored on the patio or deck of the Living Unit. The storage or collection of rubbish of any character whatsoever, any material that emits foul or obnoxious odors, the growing of any noxious weed or other noxious substance, and the harboring of the source of any noise or activity which disturbs the peace, comfort and serenity of Owners is prohibited.

<u>Section 10.</u> The Owners shall be individually responsible for utility charges which they incur for water and sewer services in the same manner as persons occupying single-family detached houses.

<u>Section 11.</u> No fence shall be allowed to be constructed on any Lot without prior written approval from the Board of Director. Any fence approved by the Board of Directors shall be limited to privacy or decorative fences located around the decks or patios of the Living Units.

<u>Section 12.</u> No personal property shall be stored or left upon a Lot except within the residential structure or garage located upon the Lot. Garage doors shall be kept closed except during times of access to the garage.

- <u>Section 13.</u> Nothing shall be altered in, constructed in, or removed from the Common Area, except upon written consent of the Board of Directors.
- **Section 14.** No boat, snowmobile, recreational vehicle, trailer, or other vehicle other than automobiles shall be stored or parked on any street. The Association may, by regulation or rule, limit or prohibit the parking or automobiles on any driveway. In the event of violation of this provision, the Association may, after reasonable notice, remove such boat, snowmobile, recreational vehicle, trailer, or other vehicle at the Owner's expense.
- <u>Section 15.</u> No unlawful activity shall be allowed which unduly interferes with the peaceful possession and use of the Properties by the Owners nor shall any fire hazard or unsightly accumulation of refuse be allowed.
- **Section 16.** Nothing shall be done or kept in any Lot or in the Common Area which will increase the rate of insurance on the Common area or the Association Responsibility Elements without prior written consent of the Board of Directors. No Owner shall permit anything to be done or kept in the Owner's Lot or in the Common Area which will result in the cancellation of insurance on any Lot or any part of the Common Area or the Association Responsibility Elements, which would be in violation of any law, or which may be or become a nuisance or annoyance to the other Owners.
- <u>Section 17.</u> All valid laws, zoning ordinances, and regulations of all governmental bodies having jurisdiction shall be observed. The responsibility of meeting the requirements of the governmental bodies that the require maintenance modification or repair of property shall be the same as the responsibility for the maintenance and repair of the property concerned.
- <u>Section 18.</u> The Board of Directors shall have the authority to adopt rules and regulations governing the use of Lots, the Common Area and the Association Responsibility Elements. Such rules shall be observed and obeyed by the Owners, their guests, lessees, assigns, and licensees.
- **Section 19.** Agents or contractors of the Board of Directors may enter any Lot when necessary in connection with any maintenance, landscaping or construction

for which the Association is responsible, provided such entry shall be made with as little inconvenience to the Owners as practicable.

<u>Section 20.</u> Neither the Owners nor the Association nor the use of the Common Area shall interfere with the completion of the contemplated improvements and the sale of the Lots by the Declarant. The Declarant may make such completion and sale, including, but not limited to, the maintenance of a sales office, model home, the showing of the property and the display of signs.

<u>Section 21.</u> Failure of the Association or any Owner to enforce any covenant, condition or restriction of this Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Association, or the rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto shall not constitute a waiver of the right to enforce the same thereafter.

### ARTICLE XIV GENERAL PROVISIONS

<u>Section 1. Right of Enforcement.</u> In the event of a violation, or threatened violation, of any of the covenants, conditions, and restrictions herein enumerated, Declarant, the Owners and all parties claiming under them, and the City of Grimes (if it so elects by approval of its City Council) shall have the right to enforce the covenants, conditions, and restrictions contained, herein, and shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees and the costs and expenses incurred as a result thereof.

<u>Section 2. Amendment.</u> This Declaration may be amended or changed by the instrument recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Polk County, lowa, signed or approved by at least two-thirds of the Owner; provided, however, none of the rights or duties of Declarant reserved or set out hereunder may be amended or changed without Declarant's prior written approval. Notwithstanding the approval by the Owners so long as Declarant has any ownership interest in any Lot.

This Declaration may also be amended by Declarant, if it then has any ownership interest in any Lot, at any time within four (4) years after the recordation hereof in order to satisfy the requirements of any of the Federal Mortgage Agencies. As long as Declarant is the sole voting member any such amendments shall be

recorded and shall be subject to the prior written approval of any of the Federal Mortgage Agencies having an interest in the Properties or any portion thereof.

Section 3. Duration. This Declaration shall run with the land and shall be binding upon all parties claiming under them for a period of twenty-one (21) years from the date of recordation in the Office of the Recorder of Polk County, lowa, and shall automatically extend for successive periods of ten (10) years each unless prior to the expiration of any such ten-year period it is amended or changed in whole or in part as hereinabove provided. Invalidation of any of the covenants, conditions, and restrictions of this Declaration by judgment of decree shall in no way effect any of the provisions hereof, but the same shall remain in full force and effect.

<u>Section 4. Notice to Mortgagees.</u> The Association, upon request, shall provide written notification to any lender holding a first mortgage upon any Lot specifying the defaults of the Owner of such Lot, if any, in the performance of such Owner's obligations under this Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Association or any other applicable documents which default has not been cured within sixty (60) days.

<u>Section 5. Restriction on Rental.</u> In order to protect the integrity of this subdivision and to unsure that those persons residing therein have similar proprietary interests in their Lots and Living Units, no Lot and the Living Unit, located thereon shall be leased or rented for a period of time of less than one (1) year and no lease or rental agreement to any such tenants or lessee shall be extended or renewed for a period of time longer than two (2) years.

### ARTICLE XV ADDITION AND REMOVAL OF PROPERTY

<u>Section 1. Additional Common Areas.</u> Declarant shall have the right at any time to convey additional Common Areas to the Association from time to time within the Property. Nothing in this Section, however, shall be deemed to be an obligation on the part of Declarant to convey additional Common Areas to the Association in the future. The Association shall be obligated to accept any additional Common Areas so conveyed by Declarant and to hold and maintain the additional Common Areas pursuant to the terms of this Declaration.

Section 2. Subjecting Additional Land to Declaration. Declarant shall have the irrevocable right to subject additional land to the terms of this Declaration at any time in the future without the consent of the Association. The additional land shall be automatically subject the applicable terms and conditions of this Declaration and Owners of Lots within the above-described land shall automatically become members of the Association in the same fashion as described in this Declaration. Declarant shall signify the addition of land by filing an amendment to this Declaration with the Recorder of Polk County, Iowa. No approval of the Association or any other person shall be necessary.

Section 3. Removing Land from Operation of Declaration. Declarant shall have the right now and in the future to remove any portion of the Property from the operation of this Declaration provided that the portion so removed has not yet been platted into individual lots and a plat for that portion has not been filed of record with the Auditor of Polk County, lowa. Declarant shall signify this removal by filing an amendment to this Declaration with the Recorder of Polk County, lowa. No approval of the Association or any other person shall be necessary.

## ARTICLE XVI LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

<u>Section 1.</u> Declarant shall not be liable to the Association or any Owner for damages or repairs to:

- (a) Any private roadway, sidewalk, driveway, curbs, stoops or other concrete improvement located within the Properties, including (but not limited to) cracking or chipping that may occur due to weather conditions; or
- (b) Any Living Unit beyond the express warranties set forth in the homeowner's warranty provided to the original owner; or
- (c) Any appliance within any Living Unit, including (but not limited to) the furnace, air-conditioner, stove, oven, dishwasher and garbage disposal, beyond the express warranties set forth in the manufacturer's warranty provided to the original Owner.

#### **DECLARANT:**

## THE CROSSINGS TOWNHOMES II, L.C., an lowa limited liability company

By: John D. Gamble, Secretary

These documents have been revised on this 7th day of May 2009, by Barbara J. Foster, Senior Property Manger for the State of Iowa.

Barbara J. Foster

Witnessed by THE CROSSINGS II L.C. Secretary:

Andrew Bogards

#### BYLAWS OF

#### THE CROSSINGS II TOWNHOMES ASSOCIATION

#### **ARTICLE I – PURPOSES**

The Crossings II Townhomes Association (hereinafter called the "Association") will conduct its activities to promote the purposes for which it was organized as set forth in Articles III and IV of the Articles of Incorporation. No substantial part of the activities of the Association shall be carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the Association shall not participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office. Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bylaws, the Association shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be carried on by a corporation exempt from federal income tax under Section 528 of the Internal Revenue Code (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

#### **ARTICLE II - OFFICES**

Section 2.1 <u>Principal Office</u>. The principal office of the Association in the State of Iowa shall be located in the City of Grimes, Polk, Iowa. The Association may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Iowa as the Board of Directors may designate or as the business of the Association may require from time to time.

Section 2.2 <u>Registered Office</u>. The registered office of the Association in the State of Iowa may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office in the State of Iowa, and the address of the registered office may changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

#### ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP

Section 3.1 <u>Members</u>. Every owner of a Lot in The Crossings II Townhomes shall be a Member of the Association. When more than one person holds an interest in any Lot, all such persons shall be Members. Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any Lot that is subject to assessment set forth in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of The Crossings II Townhomes. Ownership of a Lot shall be the sole qualification for membership.

Section 3.2 <u>Voting</u>. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.4 if this Article, the owner(s) of a Lot shall be entitled to one vote for each Lot owned. The vote for each Lot shall be exercised as the owners of the Lot, among themselves, determine, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any Lot.

Section 3.3 <u>Suspension of Voting Rights.</u> The Association shall suspend the voting rights of a Member for any period during which any assessment against the Member's Lot remains unpaid.

The Association may suspend the voting rights of a Member for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days for an infraction of the Association's published rules and regulations.

Section 3.4 <u>Sole Voting Member</u>. The Crossings II Townhomes, L.C. shall be the only Member of the Association entitled to vote for so long as it holds title to any Lot or until it waives, in writing, its right to be the sole voting member.

Section 3.5 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of the Members shall be held the first Monday in each month of November in each year beginning with the year 2009, for the purpose of electing the Board of Directors of the Association and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. If the day fixed for the annual meeting shall be a legal holiday, such meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. If a quorum is not present for the election or transaction of business on the day designated herein for the annual meeting of the Members, the Members shall cause the annual meeting to be held at a special meeting of the Members as soon thereafter as it may conveniently be held.

Section 3.6 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Members may be called by or at the request of the President or a majority of the Members upon the written demand, signed, dated and delivered to the Secretary. Such written demand shall state the purpose of purposes for which such meeting is to be called. The time, date and place of any special meeting shall be determined by the Board of Directors, or, at its direction, by the President.

Section 3.7 <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. Written notice stating the place, date and time of each annual meeting and special meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be given not less than five (5) days and not more than fifty (50) days before the date of the meeting, delivered personally or mailed to each Member at his or her personal or business address. Such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid.

Section 3.8 Quorum. Twenty-five percent (25%) of the number of the members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business at any meeting of the Members, but if less than the required quorum is present at a meeting, a majority of the Members present may adjourn the meeting without further notice. If the required quorum is not present another meeting may be called subject to the same notice requirement, and the required quorum at the subsequent meeting shall be fifty percent (50%) of the required quorum at the preceding meeting. No such subsequent meeting shall be held more than sixty (60) days following the preceding meeting. Subject to Section 3.4 of this Article, if a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the number of the Members shall be the act of the Members.

Section 3.9 <u>Presumption of Assent.</u> A Member of the Association who is present at a meeting of the Members at which action on any matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless the Member's dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless the Member has submitted written dissent to such action with the person acting as the secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof or shall forward such dissent by

registered mail to the Secretary of the Association immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a Member who voted in favor of such action.

#### ARTICLE IV - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 4.1 <u>General Powers</u>. The business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by its Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall manage the business and affairs of the Association in such a manner so as to comply with the meaning of the terms and limitations of the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws and the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for The Crossings II Townhomes so that such actions will not jeopardize the federal income tax exemption of this Association pursuant to the provisions of Section 528 of the Internal Revenue Code as now in force or may be amended.

Section 4.2 <u>Number, Tenure and Qualifications.</u> Subject to Section 4.3 of this Article, the Board of Directors of the Association shall consist of three (3) Directors, which number may be changed from time to time by vote of the Members of the Association. The Directors shall serve for a term of one (1) year commencing with appointment or until a successor shall have been appointed or elected and qualified.

Section 4.3 <u>Appointment of Board of Directors</u>. The Crossings II Townhomes, L.C. shall appoint the Board of Directors of the Association and determine the number of Directors of the Association for so long as it holds title to any Lot or until it waives, in writing, its right to be the sole voting member.

Section 4.4 <u>Annual and Regular Meetings</u>. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice immediately after, and at the same place as the annual meeting of the Members for the purpose of organization, election of Officers and the transaction of other business. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such time and place as the Board of Directors shall be resolution fix and determine from time to time without other notice than such resolution.

Section 4.5 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President or a majority of the Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix any place, wither within or without the State of Iowa, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them.

Section 4.6 <u>Notice</u>. Notice of any special meetings shall be given not less than five (5) days and not more than fifty (50) days before the date on which the meeting is to be held, by written notice delivered personally or mailed to each Director at his/her personal or business address. Such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. Any Director may waive notice of any meeting. The attendance of a Director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the

transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, neither the business to be transacted at for the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors, need to be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

Section 4.7 <u>Quorum.</u> A majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, but if less than such majority is present at a meeting, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting without further notice. At all meetings of Directors, a quorum being present, the act of the majority of the Directors present at the meeting shall be the act of the Board of Directors.

Section 4.8 <u>Presumption of Assent.</u> A Director of the Association who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors at which action on any matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless the dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless the Director submits a written dissent to such action with the person acting as the secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof of shall forward such dissent by registered mail to the Secretary of the Association immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a Director who noted in favor of such action.

Section 4.9 <u>Action Without Meeting.</u> Any action required to be taken at a meeting of the Directors, or any other action which may be taken at a meeting of the Directors, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the Directors entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof. For purposed hereof facsimile signatures shall be adequate to show consent.

Section 4.10 <u>Resignation and Removal.</u> Any Director may at anytime resign by serving written notice thereof on the remaining Directors. A Director may be subject to removal, with or without cause, at a meeting of the Members called for that purpose in the manner prescribed by law. A Director who misses more than three (3) consecutive board meetings will be subject to removal upon resolution by the Board of Directors.

Section 4.11 <u>Vacancies</u>. Subject to Section 4.3 of this Article, any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors and, to the extent permitted by law, any Directorship to be filled by election by a majority of the then sitting Directors of the Association. A Director so elected shall serve the unexpired term of his/her predecessor in office or the full term of such new Directorship, as the case may be.

Section 4.12 <u>Compensation</u>. Directors shall serve without compensation, except reasonable expenses may be paid. However, to the extent deemed necessary by the Association, the Association may retain the services of a Director other than in the capacity as a Director and the Director may be compensated for services so rendered as the Board of Directors may from time to time deem appropriate.

Section 5.1 <u>Designation of Officers, Election and Term of Offices.</u> The Officers of the Association shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person. The Officers shall be elected annually at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors held after the annual meeting of the Members and each Officer shall hold office until a successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or upon death, resignation or removal.

Section 5.2 <u>Management Company</u>. So long as The Crossings II Townhomes, L.C. holds title to any Lot or until it waives, in writing, its right to be the sole voting member, the Board of Directors may, in its discretion, contract with a professional management company to manage the regular business and affairs of the Association and shall have other such powers and duties as the Board of Directors shall specify at the expense of the Association.

Section 5.3 <u>Resignation</u>. Any Officer may at anytime resign by serving written notice thereof on the Board of Director. Such resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof or at any later time specified therein; and, unless otherwise specified therein, acceptance thereof shall be necessary to make it effective.

Section 5.4 <u>Removal.</u> Any Officer may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Association will be served thereby. Any Officer holding position of President, Vice President, Secretary or Treasurer shall automatically be removed if the individual holding the subject office is no longer a Member.

Section 5.5 <u>Vacancies</u>. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise, shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

#### **ARTICLE VI – INDEMNIFICATION**

Except for, any prohibition against indemnification specifically set forth in these By-Laws or in the lowa Nonprofit Corporation Act at the time indemnification is sought by any member, director, officer, employee, volunteer or agent of the Association, the Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceedings, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Association) by reason of the fact that the person is or was a member, director, officer, employee, volunteer or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a member, director, officer, employee, or agent of another Association, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (such serving as a member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Association or at the request of the Association referred to herein as "serving on behalf of or at the Association's request"), against expenses (including attorney's fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit, or proceeding, if the person acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be

in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and with respect to any criminal action or proceedings, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had, reasonable cause to believe that person's conduct was unlawful.

#### ARTICLE VII - SEAL

The Association shall have no corporate seal.

#### **ARTICLE VIII – AMENDMENTS**

These By-Laws may be altered, amended or repealed an new By-Laws may be adopted by a majority vote of the Directors of the Board of Directors at any regular of special meeting of the Board of Directors provided that a minimum of thirty (30) days notice in writing of the character of the proposed alteration, amendment or repeal is given to all Directors of the Board of Directors. As long as the Crossings II Townhomes L. C. is the sole voting member of the Corporation, any amendments to these By-Laws shall be subject to the prior written approval of any of the Federal Mortgage Agencies having interest in the Lots or any portion thereof.

Andrew Bogards, Secretary of The Crossings II Townhomes

andrew Bogawit

These documents have been revised on this 7<sup>th</sup> day of May 2009, by Barbara J. Foster, Senior Property Manager for the State of Iowa.

Barbara J. Foster